2009

Walter Michael Andrus, Trustee of the Mary  
Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust v. The  
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company :  
Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **Jurisdictional Statement**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code section 78A-4-103(2)(j).

### **Statement of Issues and Standard of Review**

The issues on appeal include:

- a) Whether the District Court erred in granting partial summary judgment for the Appellee and denying summary judgment in favor of the Appellant where the Appellant (acting as the court-appointed guardian of an incapacitated person, during the term of incapacity, and prior to the death of the incapacitated person) executed a change of beneficiary form on the incapacitated person's term life insurance policy reducing the Appellee's share of the benefits of the life insurance policy and instead directing a share of the proceeds to a trust for the incapacitated person's minor daughter, and
- b) Whether the District Court erred in granting partial summary judgment for the Appellee by relying on disputed issues of material fact, where counsel for the Appellee referenced disputed material facts in his memoranda and his oral argument at the motion hearing, including references to the transcript of a deposition of Appellant which Appellant was not allowed to review, correct, or sign.

These issues were preserved for appeal in the Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Interpleader Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and Appellant's oral argument at the hearing on the parties' Motions for Summary Judgment (Original Transcript for Hearing dated 9/1/09).

The applicable standard of appellate review is correctness: whether the trial court correctly interpreted and applied the law to the undisputed facts.

### **Constitutional or Statutory Provisions**

Utah Code section 75-5-312(2)

Utah Code section 31A-22-413(2)

### **Statement of the Case**

This appeal is from an Order of the Fifth District Court in and for Washington County, case no. 0805001087, entered on September 30, 2009, which granted partial summary judgment for the Appellee and denied the Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Fifth District Court certified the Order as a final judgment pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure on December 9, 2009.

On appeal, the Appellant seeks reversal of the Order granting partial summary judgment for the Appellee. The Appellant seeks entry of summary judgment in favor of the Appellant or remand to the trial court for further proceedings or a trial of the disputed material facts.

### **Statement of Facts**

In the trial court, Plaintiff/Appellant Mike Andrus asserted that the following facts, supported by the Exhibits attached to Plaintiff/Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Interpleader Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (which is hereinafter referred to as "Plaintiff's Memorandum"), were materially relevant and undisputed:

1. On about August 17, 2001, Mike Andrus' son, Jared Andrus, purchased a term life insurance policy, No. 15843524 (hereinafter "the life insurance policy" or "the policy"), with a death benefit of \$500,000 and no cash value, from Northwestern

Mutual Life Insurance Company. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, Affidavit of Walter Michael Andrus, ¶ 2; Exhibit 2, Life Insurance Policy.

2. At the time of the purchase, Jared Andrus designated his wife, Rebekah Andrus, as the sole beneficiary of the life insurance policy's death benefit. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 2.
3. In 2007, Jared Andrus became seriously ill with cancer. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 4.
4. Due to his illness and his concerns over the immaturity and instability of his wife, Rebekah Andrus, Jared Andrus asked his father, Mike Andrus, if he would be willing to serve as Jared's guardian if Jared became incapacitated. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 5.
5. Prior to the guardianship appointment, Jared Andrus informed Mike Andrus of the existence of the life insurance policy and expressed his desire that, should Jared die from the cancer, the insurance proceeds should be used to provide a secure future, including a college education and financial independence, for his young daughter, Mary Elizabeth Andrus, and that the funds not be wasted on mundane living expenses. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 6.
6. Prior to the guardianship appointment, Jared Andrus also told Mike Andrus that, due to Rebekah Andrus' mental and emotional instability, he could not rely on her to responsibly provide for their daughter's financial security. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 7.

7. On June 15, 2007, Jared Andrus filed a Petition for Guardianship of an Incapacitated Person with the Utah Fifth District Court, asking the Court to appoint his father, Mike Andrus, as his legal guardian, on the grounds that Jared Andrus was suffering from cancer and that “his illness . . . caused [him] to lack sufficient understanding and capacity to make and communicate responsible decisions.” *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 3, Petition for Guardianship.
8. On June 18, 2007, Mike Andrus took Jared Andrus, who was living with him at the time, to a session of chemotherapy treatment for this cancer. When they arrived, the nurse informed them that only one person could stay with Jared during the session, so Mike Andrus, at Jared’s request, called Jared’s wife, Rebekah Andrus, who was supposed to meet them there. Mike Andrus gave her Jared’s messages, telling her that Jared wanted Mike to stay with him and that Rebekah did not need to come to the session. *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 9.
9. On that date, after Jared completed a difficult eight hours of treatment, Mike Andrus drove him home. On the way home, Jared called Rebekah to let her know how things were going. During the conversation, which Mike Andrus could hear because Jared had the cell phone on speaker phone mode, Rebekah became upset with Jared and told him that she was putting him out of her life for her own well-being. She also told him that she did not like being treated like a criminal in that she did not want her visits with him (at Mike Andrus’ house) to be monitored (as Jared had requested that he not be left alone with her). When Mike Andrus heard her make this cruel and selfish statements, Mike took the phone, told her, “This is

why” (meaning Jared did not want to be alone with her because of the way she was treating him), and hung up the phone. *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 10; Exhibit 4, pgs. 2-3.

10. On that date, shortly after Mike Andrus and Jared Andrus arrived at Mike’s home, Rebekah Andrus’ brother-in-law arrived at the home, stood in the driveway, and repeatedly attempted to call Mike Andrus and verbally harass him. After the man left, Mike Andrus called the police, who came to take a report on the incident. Mike Andrus watched Jared fill out a witness statement for the police in which Jared expressed his concerns about Rebekah Andrus and related the incidents of that day. *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 11; Exhibit 4.
11. Jared Andrus’ witness statement to the police states: “Rebekah and I have had a difficult marriage. Her behavior matches a condition called paranoid personality disorder. My father and I [agreed], and Rebekah agreed also, that to prevent and stop her behavior that has caused me extreme stress and anxiety and interfered with my healing in many ways including causing insomnia and adrenalin highs[,] her visits and conversations with me would be monitored.” *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 4, pg. 2.
12. Jared Andrus’ witness statement also states: “Rebekah said in response [to his request that her visits to him be short and earlier in the day] that she has put me out of her life so that she can function. Then she expressed unhappiness at our visits being monitored and being treated like a common criminal when she is here at my father’s home.” *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 4., pg. 3.

13. Jared Andrus' witness statement further reads: "I want to be here at my father's home with him and Ruth caring for me. I want to continue to do so. I have expressed this to Rebekah. I do not want to go home or anywhere else." *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 4, pg. 4.
14. On July 10, 2007, in Jared's guardianship case, Judge Shumate, of the Utah Fifth District Court, entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, which ordered that Mike Andrus was appointed as the legal guardian of Jared Andrus. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 5, Findings of Fact.
15. The Order contains a finding that the "Petitioner's spouse, Rebekah Andrus, is disqualified from serving as guardian on the grounds that the Petitioner has previously nominated Michael Andrus to serve as his guardian and that Rebekah Andrus is mentally, physically, emotionally, and financially incapable of serving as the guardian of the Petitioner." *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 5, ¶ 15.
16. On July 10, 2007, the Fifth District Court also issued a Letter of Guardianship, verifying that Mike Andrus was appointed as his son's guardian and that Mike Andrus' authority included "all the powers, authorities, rights, and responsibilities of full legal guardianship of Jared Michael Andrus." *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 6, Letter of Guardianship.
17. On July 17, 2007, Mike Andrus, as "full legal guardian of Jared Michael Andrus," executed a Northwestern Mutual form entitled "Designation of Beneficiaries by Owner For Death Proceeds Only" (hereinafter "the beneficiary change form"), which designated Jared's wife, Rebekah Andrus, as the beneficiary of 15% of the

life insurance policy proceeds and the Mary Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust as the beneficiary of 85% of the life insurance proceeds. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 7, Designation of Beneficiaries Form.

18. On July 19, 2007, Mike Andrus, acting as Jared Andrus' guardian, executed a trust agreement, entitled "Mary Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust," for the purpose of holding "[a]ny and all payments due the trust . . . from any life insurance owned by Jared Michael Andrus" for the benefit of Mary Elizabeth Andrus, the minor daughter of Jared and Rebekah Andrus. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 8, Mary Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust Agreement; Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 13.

19. On December 23, 2007, Jared Andrus passed away. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 17.

20. In early January 2008, Mike Andrus submitted the beneficiary change form to Northwestern Mutual. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 18.

21. Upon Northwestern Mutual's refusal to pay the death benefit, Mike Andrus brought this legal action, as Trustee of the Mary Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust, in order to secure 85% of the policy proceeds in the Trust for the benefit of his young granddaughter, Mary Elizabeth Andrus, so that the proceeds would not be wasted by Rebekah Andrus and so that Mary will be ensured a college education and a secure financial future. *See* Plaintiff's Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 19.

22. At all times, while acting as Jared Andrus' guardian—in changing the life insurance beneficiary designation and setting up the trust for Mary Elizabeth

Andrus—Mike Andrus believed he was acting in complete accordance with Jared’s expressed desires, for the benefit of Mary Elizabeth Andrus, and in the best interests of Jared Andrus. *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 20.

23. Mike Andrus did not receive, and never expected to receive, any compensation for his appointment and work as guardian of Jared Andrus. *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 21.

24. Mike Andrus, for his services in acting as Trustee of the Mary Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust, does not intend to receive any compensation from the proceeds of the policy at issue in this case and intends that all proceeds payable to the Trust will go to Mary’s benefit. *See* Plaintiff’s Memorandum, Exhibit 1, ¶ 22.

25. In September 2008, Northwestern Mutual stipulated that it was unable to determine who was entitled to the life insurance policy proceeds and that it had no interest in the proceeds.

26. Pursuant to the stipulation, Northwestern Mutual deposited the \$500,000 death benefit, plus interest, with this Court and was dismissed from this action with prejudice.

27. Rebekah Andrus’ undisputed 15% of the proceeds has been paid to her, with interest.

### **Summary of Argument**

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment for Appellee Rebekah Andrus because, on the undisputed material facts, as a matter of law, Appellant Mike Andrus, as Jared’s court-appointed guardian, was acting within his authority as guardian when he

executed a change of beneficiary form on July 17, 2007, making the Mary Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust, created for the benefit of Jared's daughter, the beneficiary of 85% of the policy proceeds. The trial court should have ruled that, as a matter of law, the beneficiary change was enforceable and granted summary judgment in favor of the Plaintiff/Appellant.

The trial court may also have erred by granting summary judgment for Appellee based on disputed material facts. In his memoranda related to summary judgment and in oral argument at the hearing on the motions for summary judgment, counsel for Appellee made multiple references to a deposition of Appellant Mike Andrus. Counsel for the Appellant objected, both in his memorandum and at oral argument, to the references to the deposition on the grounds that Appellant Andrus was promised that he would be allowed to review and correct the deposition before signing it but then was not allowed to do so and never signed it. As the trial court did not make specific findings of the undisputed material facts upon which it relied in granting partial summary judgment for the Appellee, the judgment should be reversed and remanded for the entry of such facts or for trial on the disputed facts.

### **Argument**

The trial court should have granted summary judgment for the Plaintiff/Appellant on the grounds that, on the undisputed facts detailed above, Mike Andrus had authority, as Jared Andrus' court-appointed guardian, to change the beneficiary designation of Jared's policy. Because Mike Andrus, acting as Jared's lawful guardian, properly executed the beneficiary change form and submitted it in a timely manner, Rebecca

Andrus is only entitled to 15% of the proceeds, which have already been paid to her, and the remainder should be paid to the Mary Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust for the benefit of Jared and Rebecca's minor child, Mary Elizabeth Andrus.

**I. Under the Utah Code, the authority that may be granted to a court-appointed guardian of an incapacitated person is broad enough to allow the guardian to change a life insurance beneficiary designation.**

**A. Utah Code section 75-5-312(2) allows broad powers to court-appointed guardians.**

Appellant/Plaintiff Mike Andrus (hereinafter generally referred to as "Appellant") asserts that, under Utah law, unless specifically limited by the appointing court, a court-appointed guardian of an incapacitated person has authority to change a life insurance beneficiary designation. Utah's statutory scheme is broad and allows the appointing court to entrust the guardian with full authority to act on behalf of the incapacitated ward.

Utah Code section 75-5-312(2) defines the powers of a guardian as follows:

Absent a specific limitation on the guardian's power in the order of appointment, the guardian has the same powers, rights, and duties respecting the ward that a parent has respecting the parent's unemancipated minor child except that a guardian is not liable to third persons for acts of the ward solely by reason of the parental relationship.

When one considers the authority and rights that a parent has with regard to his or her minor child, it is clear that the Utah Legislature has expressly made the authority of a court-appointed guardian, unless limited by the appointing court, very broad.

The Utah Supreme Court has affirmed the broad scope of powers which may be granted to a court appointed guardian. In the case of *In re Boyer*, 636 P.2d 1085 (Utah

1981), emphasizing that the trial court has authority to limit the scope of guardianship at the time of appointment, the court wrote:

Although the powers conferred upon a guardian may be very broad, the court is authorized to tailor the powers of a guardian to the specific needs of the ward. In appointing a guardian, the court should state with particularity the powers granted, unless the full scope of the statutory authorization is warranted.

*Id.* at 1091 (emphasis added).

Assuming that the appointing court has not limited the guardian's powers, Utah Code section 75-5-312(2) sets up this practical test for determining whether or not a guardian's act falls within the scope of his authority as guardian: Does a parent have authority to take such an action on behalf of the parent's minor child? Or, as specifically applied to the present case: Does a parent have authority to change the beneficiary of a minor child's life insurance policy? The answer to this test is straightforward in the present case: The parent must use the correct form and submit the form in a timely manner, but nothing in Utah law limits a parent's authority to change his or her child's life insurance beneficiary. Thus, under section 75-5-312(2) the authority that an appointing court may authorize to a guardian includes the authority to change a life insurance policy beneficiary.

It is also important to note that Utah Code section 75-5-312(2) does not place any further limitations on a guardian's authority. The second sentence of section 75-5-312(2) does impose certain duties on the guardian, such as caring for the ward and his property, but it specifically states that the rights and duties are listed "without qualifying" the broad grant of authority stated in the first sentence of the section.

Finally, it is good public policy to allow a guardian, if not prohibited by the appointing court for good cause, to execute beneficiary changes on the incapacitated person's insurance policy. This allows the guardian to take present conditions into account and effectuate the known wishes of the incapacitated person, for the best interest of the incapacitated person. That is exactly what happened in the present case, where the guardian changed the beneficiary in order to preserve the insurance proceeds for the benefit of Jared Andrus' young daughter and to prevent the proceeds from being wasted by Appellee Rebekah Andrus, who was deemed unfit to be Jared's guardian by the appointing court.

**B. *Andrus v. Blazzard* can be distinguished from the present case.**

Interpleader Plaintiff/Appellee Rebekah Andrus (hereinafter generally referred to as "Appellee") argued in the lower courts that *Andrus v. Blazzard*, 63 P. 888 (Utah 1901), supports her argument that a guardian lacks authority to change a beneficiary designation. However, the facts and legal issues in *Andrus* are much different from the present case and thus *Andrus* is neither controlling nor persuasive.

*Andrus v. Blazzard* can be distinguished from the present case in several ways. First, in *Andrus*, the guardian attempted to enter into a contract on behalf of the ward. In the present case, the ward, Jared Andrus, had entered into a contract, an insurance policy, prior to the guardianship. Mike Andrus, as guardian of Jared Andrus, did not attempt to contract on Jared's behalf. Instead, acting as guardian and in Jared's best interest, Mike Andrus exercised a personal option that was allowed by the policy to change the policy's beneficiary.

Second, the issue in *Andrus* was whether the guardian or the ward was liable on the contract. This issue does not exist in the present case, as Jared Andrus fulfilled his obligations on the contract by paying his insurance premiums and Mike Andrus was not seeking to impose a contractual financial burden on his ward.

Given these significant factual and legal differences between *Andrus* and the present case, this court should conclude that *Andrus* gives no practical guidance in applying Utah Code section 75-5-312(2).

**C. This is an issue of first impression in Utah.**

Counsel for Mike Andrus has researched Utah's appellate case law and can find no relevant cases to assist the Court on this issue. Since the issue of whether a guardian can change the beneficiary of a ward's insurance policy is one of first impression in Utah, it is fortunate that the plain language of section 75-5-312(2) is clear enough for the Court to conclude that, just as a parent is not legally prohibited from changing the beneficiary of a minor child's insurance policy, a guardian with full guardianship authority is also not prohibited from making such a change.

**D. The insurance proceeds are not part of Jared Andrus' estate and thus conservatorship law does not apply.**

Appellee previously asserted in the lower courts that the insurance policy should have been included in Jared Andrus' estate. Appellee thus attempts to impose the requirements of a conservator on Mike Andrus, on the theory that the \$500,000 death benefit would have necessitated the appointment of a conservator, in addition to a guardian.

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