2009

Walter Michael Andrus, Trustee of the Mary
Elizabeth Andrus Nevada Trust v. The
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT SUMMARY

On appeal, W.M. Andrus claims that because the probate court granted him "full legal guardianship" of Jared Andrus, he had authority under Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312 to change the beneficiary designation of his ward's life insurance policy. Additionally, W.M. Andrus claims his actions were in the best interests of his ward and that the trial court may have relied on disputed material facts in granting R. Andrus' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment because at oral argument, Appellee's counsel raised facts from W.M. Andrus' deposition which he claims that he was never able to read or sign. Both claims fail because they are lacking in merit and not supported by the record.

W.M. Andrus' arguments fail to comply with the requirements of Rule 24, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. W.M. Andrus' makes no effort to cite any portions of the record relied upon in making his arguments and rarely cites applicable law on which his arguments rely. Additionally, W.M. Andrus' recites many immaterial facts which contain no citation to the record and many of which were wholly disputed at the trial court level. To the extent W.M. Andrus' brief is inadequate, it need not be considered by this Court.

Also, W.M. Andrus' claims are lacking in merit and do not reflect the applicable statutory or case law. Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312 does not empower a guardian to

change the beneficiary designation of his ward's life insurance policy and W.M. Andrus was never granted that authority from the probate court as the Policy was never disclosed to or properly considered by the court. Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312, like Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-209, requires a guardian to petition the court for a protective proceeding if the guardian is aware of property or affairs of the ward which he believes are in need of protection. A protective proceeding is necessary to enable a guardian to change his ward's beneficiary designation on a life insurance policy that is within the reach of the probate court and is commenced pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-401-408. However, questions remain whether a term life insurance policy, as a non-probate contract, would even be subject to the reach of the court through a protective proceeding, let alone a guardianship.

In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Policy itself, the Northwestern Mutual life insurance company was under no obligation to honor the beneficiary change form submitted by W.M. Andrus. The beneficiary designation change form was of no effect as it was submitted after the termination of the guardianship and after Jared Andrus' death. Therefore, the original beneficiary designation to R. Andrus remained in place.

Finally, the Court did not rely on disputed material facts because Appellee's counsel was permitted to cite to portions of W.M. Andrus' unsigned deposition. The trial court made it clear that its decision was based on the language of the relevant statutes and not deposition testimony from W.M. Andrus that he now wishes to dispute. W.M. Andrus had the ability to attempt to suppress the deposition if he considered his

testimony objectionable and failed to do so within the time allowed by the Rules.

Therefore, even if the trial court were to rely on such testimony, it could properly do so.

ARGUMENT

W.M. Andrus essentially raises the following claims on appeal: (1) that as guardian of Jared Andrus, he was vested with authority to change the beneficiary designation of his ward's life insurance policy; (2) that he was acting in the best interests of his ward; and (3) that the trial court may have relied on disputed material facts in granting R. Andrus' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. *See* Brief of Appellant ("Br. Of Apl't.") at 10-11. W.M. Andrus' claims fail because they are inadequately briefed, lacking in merit and not supported by the record.

I. APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE INADEQUATELY BRIEFED AND NEED NOT BE REVIEWED BY THIS COURT

"It is well established that a reviewing court will not address arguments that are not adequately briefed." *State v. Parra*, 972 P.2d 924, 926 (Utah App. 1998). The briefing requirements are found in rule 24, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Rule 24(a)(9) requires that "[t]he argument shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, including the grounds for reviewing any issues not preserved in the trial court, with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record relied on." Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9). "[An appellate] court is not a depository in which the appealing party may dump the burden of argument and

research.”” *Brigham Young Univ. v. Tremco Consultants, Inc.*, 2005 UT 19, ¶ 42, 110 P.3d 678 (citations omitted).³

In the instant case, W.M. Andrus’ arguments are inadequately briefed. Contrary to the requirements of Rule 24(a)(9), the entirety of W.M. Andrus’ arguments are wholly void of any citation to the actual record. *See* Br. of Aplt. W.M. Andrus’ entire first argument is premised on the assertion that Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312 grants a guardian the authority to change his wards beneficiary designation. *See* Br. of Aplt. Although he references the statute throughout his brief, W.M. Andrus makes only two actual citations to that statute and those citations do not support his conclusions. *Id.* In fact, in twelve pages of argument, W.M. Andrus makes only five citations to relevant legal authority and none of which support his conclusions. *See* Br. of Aplt. at 11-22. Rather than citing to relevant legal authority, W.M. Andrus draws his own unsupported conclusions and bootstraps them to use as support for subsequent conclusions. *See id.*

For example, W.M. Andrus cites to the language of Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312 to explain that a guardian has essentially the same powers over the ward as parent over their minor child. Br. of Aplt. at 12. In answering his own rhetorical question, W.M. Andrus summarily concludes without citation to law or supporting authority that a parent’s authority extends to changing their child’s life insurance beneficiary designation. *Id.* at 13. Later, W.M. Andrus bootstraps this summary conclusion as the basis of support for

³ *See also United States v. Dunkel*, 927 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 1991) (“Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs.”).

arguing that a guardian is also not prohibited from changing his ward's life insurance beneficiary designation. *Id.* at 15.

Additionally, W.M. Andrus' Statement of Facts is insufficient. Many of the statements made by W.M. Andrus are disputed facts which are immaterial to this appeal and represent self-serving statements of hearsay which are inadmissible as evidence and were not considered by the trial court. R. 332:28. The trial court specifically stated that it was making its decision on the language of the statute and not the disputed facts. *Id.*

Rule 24(a)(7), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, requires that the statement of facts be "relevant to the issues presented for review[.]" Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(7). Most importantly, the rule requires that "[a]ll statements of fact and references to the proceedings below shall be supported by citations to the record[.]" *Id.* "This court need not, and will not consider any facts not properly cited to, or supported by, the record." *Uckerman v. Lincoln Nat'l Life Ins. Co.*, 588 P.2d 142, 144 (Utah 1978) (declining to consider an appellant's factual allegations where they were either unsupported by the record or not properly cited); *see also Koulis v. Standard Oil Co.*, 746 P.2d 1182, 1184-85 (Utah App. 1987) (disregarding sua sponte an appellant's brief where it was "filled with burdensome, emotional, immaterial and inaccurate argument," and "only a small proportion of authorities cited . . . b[ore] any resemblance to the propositions for which they [were] cited").

W.M. Andrus' Statement of Facts contains disputed and unfounded allegations and argument which are immaterial to this appeal. Br. of Aplt. at 4-10. For example, fact

statements numbered 3-6; 8-10; and 20-23 in Appellant's brief all rely on W.M. Andrus own self-serving affidavit and are wholly replete with inadmissible hearsay. *See* Br. of Aplt. at 5-10. In exchange for actual facts, W.M. Andrus offers burdensome conjecture such as "[d]ue to his illness and concerns over the immaturity and instability of his wife . . ." and "due to Rebakah Andrus' mental and emotional instability" Br. of Aplt. at 5. Unfortunately, these are only a couple of the many egregious examples contained in W.M. Andrus' brief which were not relied on in applying the language of the statute to determine the outcome of the trial court's decision. *See* Br. of Aplt. at 4-10. As stated above, the trial court explicitly indicated that it was making its decision on the language of the statute and not the disputed facts. R. 332:28.

In sum, W.M. Andrus impermissibly treats this Court as "a depository in which [he] dump[s] the burden of argument and research." *Brigham Young Univ.*, 2005 UT 19 at ¶ 42 (citations omitted). Furthermore, W.M. Andrus' stated facts fail to appropriately cite to the record and are "filled with burdensome, emotional, immaterial and inaccurate argument[.]" *Koulis*, 746 P.2d at 1184-85. Accordingly, where W.M. Andrus has inadequately briefed his appeal and failed to comply with the clear directive offered in Rule 24(a)(7), this Court may decline consideration his appeal. *See Uckerman*, 588 P.2d at 144; *Koulis*, 746 P.2d at 1184-85.

II. APPELLANT’S CLAIM THAT BY VIRTUE OF HIS GUARDIANSHIP OF JARED ANDRUS, HE WAS VESTED WITH AUTHORITY TO CHANGE THE BENEFICIARY DESIGNATION OF HIS WARD’S LIFE INSURANCE POLICY IS WITHOUT MERIT.

W.M. Andrus claims that the trial court erred by not granting his Motion for Summary Judgment. Br. of Aplt. at 11. At the heart of his claim is the assertion that the trial court misinterpreted Utah law as it pertains to guardianships. Br. of Aplt. at 11.

With regard to this claim, W.M. Andrus argues that (1) Utah Code is sufficiently broad to confer upon a guardian authority to change the beneficiary designation of his ward’s life insurance policy; (2) that W.M. Andrus’ authority to change the beneficiary designation was not limited by the Letter of Guardianship; and (3) his actions were in the best interests of his ward. Br. of Aplt. at 12-17. However, W.M. Andrus’ argument regarding the Utah Uniform Probate Code espouses a myopic view of the statutes, employs conclusory reasoning coupled with inadequate support, and relies on disputed and immaterial statements which the trial court refused to consider in making its ruling.

A. Without properly petitioning the Courts, Utah Code is not sufficiently broad to confer upon a guardian the ability to change the beneficiary designation of the ward’s life insurance policy.

W.M. Andrus’ primary argument is that Utah Probate Code is broad enough to confer upon a guardian the authority to change his ward’s non-probate term life insurance beneficiary designation regardless of whether the matter of the life insurance policy was raised before the Court. Br. of Aplt. at 12. To support his argument, W.M. Andrus identifies only one statute, Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312, on which to base his conclusion. *Id.* Moreover, his argument ignores portions of that statute, attendant case law, and

ignores the purpose and language of the remaining statutes in the Utah Uniform Probate Code, namely § 75-5-209 and §§ 75-5-401 through 408, which were adopted by the legislature to deal with a protected person's property matters and other affairs.

- 1. Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312 provides a guardian the authority to administer in matters incident to providing care, supervision and support to the ward rather than administering the ward's assets, estate planning or other property or affairs.**

Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312 does not empower a guardian with the ability to change his ward's life insurance beneficiary designation, especially when the matter has not been raised before the Court or contained within the Order of Appointment. Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312(1) states that "a guardian of an incapacitated person has only the powers, rights, and duties respecting the ward granted in the order of appointment under Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-304." Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312(1). Under § 75-5-304(1), the purpose of a guardianship is to "provid[e] continuing care and supervision of the incapacitated person." Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-304(1). Without qualifying the language of § 75-5-304, and absent specific limitation, "the guardian has the same powers, rights, and duties respecting the ward that a parent has respecting the parent's unemancipated minor child" Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312(2).

W.M. Andrus' claims with a rhetorical and perfunctory conclusion that a parent's power extends to changing the minor's life insurance beneficiary designation so long as the parent "use[s] the correct form and submit[s] the form in a timely manner." Br. of Appt. at 13. However, W.M. Andrus fails to cite to any supporting authority for his conclusion. Moreover, his conclusion is not consistent with the language of Utah Code

Ann. § 75-5-209 which addresses the duties and powers of a guardian of a minor. Under § 75-5-209 “A guardian of a minor has the powers and responsibilities of a parent who has not been deprived of custody of the parent’s unemancipated minor, including the powers and responsibilities described in Subsection (3).” Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-209(2). Those powers, *inter alia*, include each of the following: (i) to take reasonable care of personal effects of the minor; (ii) receive money payable to the ward from various sources including from private contract, trust, conservatorship, and custodianship; (iii) exercise care to conserve excess money for the ward’s future needs; (iv) facilitate the ward’s education, social and other activities; authorize medical care; and (v) pay sums for the welfare of the ward. *Id.* at (3).

The language of § 75-5-209 as it relates to the powers of a guardian is consistent with § 75-5-312. Under § 75-5-312, the powers of a guardian generally include the ability to determine the ward’s residence, to provide comfort, maintenance, education and care for the ward, to take reasonable care of the ward’s furniture, vehicles and personal effects and to give medical consents for the ward’s treatment or care. Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312 (2)(a)-(c). Moreover, neither the language of §75-5-312 or the language of § 75-5-209 provide authorization or inherent authority to a guardian to alter their ward’s life insurance beneficiary designation. To the contrary, each of the activities and duties specified in both statutes relate to the purpose of a guardianship,” to provide continuing care and supervision of the incapacitated person.” Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-304(1).

In addition, both § 75-5-312 and § 75-5-209 draw a distinction between matters of comfort, maintenance and support of the ward as opposed to financial and property matters of the ward. § 75-5-312 recognizes that a guardian has limited power over property matters and requires a guardian to “commence protective proceedings if other property of the ward is in need of protection.” *Id.* at (2)(b). Likewise, § 75-5-209 imposes the same requirement on guardians of a minor by specifying that “A guardian of a minor . . . (b) must commence protective proceedings if necessary to protect other property of the guardian’s ward.” Utah Code Ann. 75-5-209(3)(b) (emphasis added). Also, Subsection (d)(ii) of § 75-5-312 embodies the distinction between matters of care, comfort and support and matters related to property by preferring the appointment of conservator to preside over the ward’s property and money matters. Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312(d)(ii). Further, it reaffirms the scope of a guardian’s duty by charging the guardian to “apply the money and property for support, care, and education of the ward; . . .” *Id.*

Additionally, the Uniform Law Comments to both § 75-5-312 and § 75-5-209 are consistent with interpreting the guardianship statutes to limit a guardian’s reach over his ward’s contracts and other property matters. Both Comments offer useful insight into the intent of the guardianship statutes and the legislature’s intent in adopting the statutes.

The Uniform Law Comment to § 75-3-312 provides as follows:

All guardians, however appointed, have the powers and duties of a guardian of a minor as provided in § 5-209, subsections (b), (c) and (d). As discussed in the Comment to § 5-209, these powers do not enable a

guardian to deal with property matters of the ward. A protective order under § 5-401 et seq. is indicated when property management is needed.

Uniform Law Comment to Utah Code Ann. § 75-5-312 (emphasis added). Similarly, the Uniform Law Comment to § 75-5-209 provides:

The powers of a guardian regarding the property of the ward are quite limited. Note, also, that the section does not encourage a guardian to apply to the court for additional property power. Rather, the provisions are designed to encourage use of a protective proceeding under § 5-401 if property powers beyond those statutorily available to a guardian are needed.

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